# THE UNITED STATES' PAST PRESENT AND FUTURE INVOLVEMENT IN THE STRAIT OF HORMUZ

# PONTIFICIA UNIVERSIDAD JAVERIANA FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS POLÍTICAS Y RELACIONES INTERNACIONALES CARRERA DE RELACIONES INTERNACIONALES

BOGOTÁ D.C. 2021

# THE UNITED STATES' PAST PRESENT AND FUTURE INVOLVEMENT IN THE STRAIT OF HORMUZ

GERARDO CANEVA ZÁRATE

# PONTIFICIA UNIVERSIDAD JAVERIANA FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS POLÍTICAS Y RELACIONES INTERNACIONALES CARRERA DE RELACIONES INTERNACIONALES

BOGOTÁ D.C. 2021

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	5
Research problem	5
Research question	7
Relevance of the investigation	7
OBJECTIVES OF THE INVESTIGATION	8
General objectives	8
Specific objectives	9
METHODOLOGY	9
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	. 11
GSDRC analytical framework for conflict in the Strait of Hormuz	11
Security as a matter of the State	
Foreign policy: definitions and perspectives	13
International institutions through the realist lens	14
Hard power, intervention and diplomacy as tools of foreign policy	14
CHAPTER 1: ANALYISIS OF THE CONFLICT IN THE STRAIT OF HORMUZ	. 17
Actors The United States Islamic Republic of Iran	18
Profile	
Dynamics	26
Conclusion  CHAPTER 2: UNITED STATES' FOREIGN POLICY OBJECTIVES REGARDING	
THE STRAIT OF HORMUZ	
Quadrennial Defense Review 2014	29
National Security Strategy 2017	30
National Defense Strategy 2018.	31
Bureau of Near Eastern Affairs	31
White House Press Briefings	32
Conclusion	34
CHAPTER 3: FOREIGN POLICY ALTERNATIVES AT THE UNITED STATES'	25

Diplomacy	36
Direct Diplomacy	
Indirect Diplomacy	37
Hard power	40
Threat of use of force	40
Intervention	42
Sanctions	45
Conclusion	46
Conclusions	47
REFERENCES	50

## INTRODUCTION

The following document outlines the historical trajectory and the current situation of the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz, where both the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran compete for control over the Strait. Framed within the larger animosity between the Islamic regime and the U.S, the struggle for dominance in the Strait has led to an increase of tensions between both States in recent years, putting the stability of the Strait at risk.

The methodology used in this investigation is that of Case Study methodology, specifically congruence procedures. This methodology dictates that the researcher carry out three steps: stating the theory, stating the expectations of what should be observed in the case, and, finally, identifying congruence or lack thereof between the expected and the observed outcomes (Van Evera, 1997). The theory that will be used throughout the investigation is stated in the theoretical framework and consists of several perspectives on issues inherent to the field of International Relations, such foreign policy, conflict, security and foreign policy tools. Taking into consideration that the United States has long been interested in ensuring the security of the Strait in order to guarantee a stable global energy market, that it has been involved in several conflicts in the region, and that it has historically been more than capable of safeguarding the right of transit passage through the Strait, even in the face of Iranian aggression, the expected outcome is that the United States will be more than capable of providing security to the Strait of Hormuz through the use of a wide range of foreign policy tools.

#### Research problem

The Strait of Hormuz located between the Persian Gulf and the Gulf of Oman is the passageway through which twenty percent of the oil produced worldwide transits as it makes its way to its destination from oil producing countries such as Saudi Arabia (Gilsinan, 2019). The twenty million barrels of oil that pass through the Strait every day (Ma, 2020) make the passageway a point of interest for U.S foreign policy; whose objective is to guarantee its safe

passage in order to keep oil prices from increasing, and to ensure a steady supply of oil for Asia, and the United States itself.

The importance of the Strait of Hormuz is further emphasized when one considers that it has been the location of rising tensions between Iran, which borders the Strait and desires to control it, and the unwaning presence of the United States. Though tensions between the U.S and Iran have been on the rise as a result of several incidents in recent years, the territorial dispute for the control of the Strait can be traced back to the Tanker War in 1984 during which Iran and Iraq targeted each other's merchant ships and oil tankers that transited through the Strait.

As oil prices started to hike, and casualties began to mount for the Gulf States, whose ships were being targeted by Iran, the United States led an intervention into the Strait and the surrounding Gulfs to escort Kuwaiti ships, in an operation codenamed Earnest Will in 1987 (Eisenstadt, 2019). At this time, the sinking of USS *Samuel B. Roberts* led to the launch of Operation Praying Mantis, that resulted in the sinking of most of the Iranian navy's most important ships. The high toll for the Iranian navy forced the diminishing of its operations in the Strait of Hormuz, and the ending of the Iran-Iraq war shortly thereafter (Crist, 2009).

Three decades after Operation Praying Mantis and the open confrontation between U.S forces and Iranian forces in the Strait of Hormuz, tensions between the two countries are at an all-time high, with the assassination of Qasem Soleimani, a high-ranking officer within the Irani armed forces, and a series of incidents in the Strait, such as the seizing of a British tanker and an attack on Norwegian and Japanese tankers crossing the Strait in June 2019.

As tensions have escalated, the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps made its position clear regarding the presence of the United States in the region, and began executing ballistic missile exercises, which forced U.S military bases in Qatar and the UAE to enter high alert (International Crisis Group, 2020)

Taking into account the importance of the of the Strait as one of the main shipping routes worldwide, the history of conflict that plagues the region, and the rising tensions between Iran and the U.S as they both contend for control over the passageway, it is clear that there is no end in sight to the conflict that rages on in the region. The aim of this study is to determine the capacity of the United States to advance its interests and to provide security in the region, through foreign policy alternatives at the U.S' disposal at the beginning of the Biden presidency.

#### Research question

Considering the recent events in the Strait, as well as the history of conflict that has plagued the region, to what extent will the United States be capable of providing security in the Strait of Hormuz at the outset of the Biden presidency?

### Relevance of the investigation

Keeping in mind the importance of the Strait of Hormuz as a shipping route, the conflict currently brewing in the Strait and that the possible escalation of said conflict could further destabilize the Strait, the situation poses a threat to the security of the United States (Slade, 2019). Considering the importance of the Middle East as a thriving area of study within International Relations, especially in the aftermath of the 2011 revolutions called the Arab Spring (Dalacoura, 2020), the possibility of another conflict in the region is of the utmost importance to the field of International Relations.

Moreover, continuous incidents in the Strait could mean a sharp rise in oil prices all around the world, possibly up to a 100 dollars per barrel (Meredith, 2020). Skyrocketing oil prices would have far reaching consequences worldwide, and as seen in the past, with the oil crisis of 1973 in which the United States was forced to take action to stop the economic downturn, the possibility of another crisis would prompt the United States to spring into action. As David S. Painter argues, "Control of oil played a vital role in establishing and maintaining U.S. preeminence in the international system" (Painter, 2014) during the cold war, a fact that

is still valid today as oil continues to be the primary energy source for the United States (EIA, 2020) and a central requisite to military power (Painter, 2014). Taking into account the importance of the United States as a prominent actor in the international system, the possible courses of action that it can take to stop what it perceives as a threat to its stability and security, would likely have sweeping consequences, and, therefore, is especially relevant to International Relations.

Aside from the importance of the United States as the primary provider of security in the region, the formation of the IMSC as a coalition led by the United Kingdom tasked with maintaining order and security in the Strait of Hormuz as well as the P5+1 group (the United States, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Russia, China) in charge of the nuclear negotiations with Iran highlights the role that other actors in the international arena, such as international institutions and organizations play in the handling of multidimensional issues. As explained by Robert Keohane, "problems of energy, food, monetary arrangements, nuclear proliferation and military-security issues in the Middle East are linked to one another in a complex and frightening system" (Keohane, 1975, p.357) in what he calls "interdependence of interdependence" (Keohane, 1975, p.357). Although this analysis was made from the point of view of liberal theories of international organizations, when scrutinized through a realist perspective that considers international institutions as a tool at the disposal of the great powers to carry out their interests (Mearsheimer, 1994), international institutions that operate in the Strait of Hormuz or that could be created in the future could be used by the United States to provide stability to the Strait. Therefore, this study will consider not only States as important actors in the international arena, but also international institutions and the role that the international community takes on in providing security for the Strait.

**OBJECTIVES OF THE INVESTIGATION** 

General objectives

- 1. Understand the strategic importance of the Strait of Hormuz to the United States' interests.
- 2. Explore the United States' ability to provide security in the Strait of Hormuz at the outset of the presidency of Joe Biden.

## Specific objectives

- 1. Understand the events that led to the current situation.
- 2. Ascertain the United States' foreign policy objectives in Strait of Hormuz.
- 3. Identify possible courses of action for the United States in the face of Iranian aggression.

#### **METHODOLOGY**

The methodology used in this study is qualitative in nature. More specifically, documentary research is utilized to gather the information necessary to answer the research question. The analysis itself is based on the Case Study method. In Qualitative research researchers "study things in their natural settings, attempting to make sense of, or interpret, phenomena in terms of the meanings people bring to them" (Denzin and Lincoln, 2005, p.4).

The qualitative method of documentary research consists of "studying excerpts, quotations or entire passages from organizational, clinical or program records, memoranda and correspondence; official publications and reports; personal diaries and open-ended written responses to questionnaires and surveys" (Patton, 2002, p.55). Documentary research is a method in which the researcher collects an abundance of information pertaining to the focus of the study, through the collection of personal and official documents, which can include newspapers, diaries, stamps, directories, handbills, maps, government statistical publications, photographs, paintings, gramophone records, tapes, and computer files" (Scott and Marshall, 1998).

Due to limitations that stem from the geographical circumstances, in which the researcher is far removed from the area of study, methodologies that require the researcher to get physically involved with the subject matter are out of the realm of possibilities for the completion of the study. Therefore, the methodology of documentary research is appropriate to achieve the goals of this investigation.

The application of the methodology of documentary research to the problem at hand will be as follows. To understand the events that lead to the current situation, an emphasis will be placed on historical documents and recounts of the events that took place during the conflicts in the Strait starting from the Iran-Iraq War. To ascertain the foreign policy objectives of the United States with regard to the Strait of Hormuz and even Iran in general, so long as it pertains to the investigation, the use of official documents which state said objectives and strategies will be a priority. Close attention will be paid to the events that take place in the Strait in recent times. Lastly, the information gathered from the investigation through documentary research will be put to use in the formulation of possible courses of action that the United States can take to continue to provide security for the Strait.

Together with documentary research, the Case Study method will be used for a better comprehension of the situation at hand. The Case Study method is considered to be especially useful within the qualitative approach to social sciences, as it allows for the study of "complex and relatively unstructured and infrequent phenomena that lie at the heart of the subfield" (Bennet and Elman, 2007, p.171), such as wars or the formation of new international security systems. This method can be used to study situations that escape the grasp of statistical models or other methodological tools employed in the quantitative approach to social science, such as complex or *sui generis* phenomena found in the field of International Relations (Bennet and Elman, 2007).

The Case Study method involves three main steps: stating the theory, stating the expectations about what should be observed in the case, and exploring the case looking for congruence or lack thereof between the expectation and the observed data points. The form of Case Study

relevant to this investigation is that of congruence procedures, in which observations within a case are used to test the theory (Van Evera, 1997). This allows the researcher (and the reader) to better understand a situation within the field of International Relations riddled with complexities.

# THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

To carry out this study, a robust theoretical framework is needed, built from the knowledge constructed by International Relations scholars. The theoretical framework will be structured as follows: the Governance and Social Development Resource Center (GSDRC) framework for conflict analysis; a classical definition of security; a definition of foreign policy, what it encompasses and how it is put in practice by States to achieve their interests; a realist view of international institutions and lastly; foreign policy tools like hard power and diplomacy that the United States can use to enact its interests.

These elements are important insofar as they will bring structure to the study, for instance, the GSDRC conflict analysis framework provides the mold that will be followed to analyze the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz, and the foreign policy tools of hard power and diplomacy will be broken down into more specific courses of action that the U.S can undertake to carry out its interests in the Strait. Likewise, foreign policy is central to this study and must be defined to determine the internal and external constrains on a States' behavior and how a State conducts itself in the international system. Finally, the realist perspective of international institutions explains the way in which the U.S can use certain international institutions in its favor, but also indicates that the study will be carried out from the point of view of the realist theory of international relations.

#### GSDRC analytical framework for conflict in the Strait of Hormuz

According to Karin Aggestam, conflict analysis is the "the systematic study of the causes, actors, processes and resolution of conflicts around the globe" (Aggestam, 2014) and it strives to generate suggestions on how to manage and resolve conflict. The May 2017 Topic

Guide of the Governance and Social Development Resource Centre at the University of Birmingham provides a framework for the analysis of conflict, which takes into account a series of variables such as profile, actors and dynamics of the conflict, that can be used in the analysis of the situation in the Strait of Hormuz.

By "profile" the GSDRC conflict guide means the overarching context in which the conflict is framed, the history of the conflict, the political, economic, social and environmental structures that shape the conflict. Actors are the different players that influence the conflict: their interests, power or resources, incentives or disincentives for conflict or for peace, and their capacities. Lastly, the GSDRC includes dynamics in the analysis of the conflict, specifically the conflict trends, the conflict triggers, and what future scenarios can develop in the conflict (Herbert, 2017).

The GSDRC analytical framework and its components will be applied to the case of the Strait of Hormuz and United States' involvement in the region. It provides a structure for the first chapter: (i) through the analysis of the profile of the conflict in which events throughout the conflictive history of the Strait will be taken into account, (ii) the actors, primarily the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran, (iii) the causes and the dynamics, such as recent triggers and escalations in the intensity of the conflict and the animosity between the actors.

### Security as a matter of the State

Considering that the study will focus on the provision of security for the Strait of Hormuz by the United States and its allies in the region, one must first define what is meant by security. According to Martha Barcena Coqui, in its most classic sense, the word security comes from the Latin words Securitas/securus, which itself comes from the words *Sine cura*, which means free from worry or free from problems (Coqui, 2000). In other words, in its most basic form security means being safe from harm and free from worry of harm that could come from others.

Despite the new dimensions that security encompasses, this study will understand security from the point of view of the traditional approach. The traditional approach to security, which stems from the realist theory of international relations, considers that security must remain in the areas of the military, the political, and the interaction between States. This approach takes as a presupposition the anarchical nature of the international system, or the lack of a superior entity in the international arena which forces States to resort to the notion of self-help to guarantee their own survival. Likewise, the term international security is used in reference to the use of force, how to identify it, resist it, or use it, it pertains mainly to the State and exists in close relation to peace and war (Coqui, 2000).

# Foreign policy: definitions and perspectives

This study also aims to understand the importance of the Strait of Hormuz to the United States' foreign policy. Therefore, it is important to define what the meaning of foreign policy is through three levels/lenses provided by different authors. Firstly, political scientist James N. Rosenau defines foreign policy as "authoritative actions taken by governments or ones they are committed to take in order either to maintain the desirable aspects of the international environment or to amend its undesirable aspects" (Rosenau, 1974, p.6).

Secondly, Daniel Carrasco Birhuega defines foreign policy as "the set of principles, orientations, programs, agreements, institutions and actions that characterize relations between states" (Carrasco, 2015, p.5). In his theory of foreign policy, Carrasco considers the importance of the decision-makers, those who possess the power of the executive within a State. Although consigning the power over foreign policy to a few individuals can be considered negative or undemocratic, the author argues that this is the case because of the need for secrecy and confidentiality in the making and implementing of the foreign policy, the safeguarding of the internal cohesion of a State in the face of other powers, and ensuring a fast process of decision making in moments of crisis (Carrasco, 2015).

Carrasco also explains the way in which the type of regime affects how foreign policy is formulated, and presents the case of the United States. In a democracy, the decisions of foreign policy are taken by the president, but he cannot do so entirely on his own as this would be undemocratic, which is why the Congress also plays a role, as its permission is needed to undertake certain actions (Carrasco, 2015).

Through these three definitions of foreign policy, we have gathered most of what is considered necessary to understand the process, external variables such as the systemic variable by Rosenau, internal variables such as the role played by congress in the United States as explained by Carrasco, and the importance of crisis, rapid response, and the perspectives of the decision-makers in the decision-making process.

#### International institutions through the realist lens

In the text *The False Promise of International Institutions*, the renowned realist John Mearsheimer argues against the central tenets of liberal institutionalism, which considers institutions to be an important cause of international stability as they reduce the possibility of cheating that limits international cooperation. Instead, the realist scholar claims that international institutions are actually created and shaped by the most powerful States so they can maintain their share of power, and serve to enact their interests (Mearsheimer, 1994). International institutions are a reflection of the distribution of power in the international system, they are created and modeled by the great powers according to their self-interested calculations and have no independent effect on State behavior (Mearsheimer, 1994, p.7). From this point of view, international institutions can be used by the United States in its favor to secure the stability of the Strait of Hormuz.

#### Hard power, intervention and diplomacy as tools of foreign policy

In the same way, the historical conflicts that have occurred in the region, just as the more recent confrontations in the Strait have involved the use of the military and, by extension, the use of hard power. Hard power is defined by Joseph Nye as the use of military or economic might to get others to change their position, and that it rests on inducements ("carrots") or threats ("sticks") (Nye, 2005). According to traditional realist scholar Hans Morgenthau, the sources of power can be equated with "the possession of identifiable and measurable resources and listed geography, natural resources, industrial capacity, military, and population as stable power elements of a nation" (Morgenthau, 1954). Likewise, hard power is defined by Ernest J. Wilson III as having the capacity to coerce others to act in ways in which they would not have acted otherwise (Wilson, 2008). Hard power is enacted through strategies of military intervention and economic sanctions among other strategies.

Taking this and the limited confrontations between the United States and Iran into account, military action must be considered as a possible tool of foreign policy at the United States' disposal. As explained by Hans Morgenthau, "intervention is an ancient and well-established instrument of foreign policy" (Morgenthau, 1966). However, the intervention that the author refers to is that of a military intervention that violates the sovereignty of another State, which is not the case in the current situation, since military action of the United States would be limited to the physical safeguarding of the Strait through naval action or otherwise.

Despite intervention being a tool of foreign policy, it is unlikely to happen unless absolutely necessary, given that the costs of it are extremely high and the American public has grown more and more skeptical of this tool since the Vietnam War. Therefore, another alternative is the threat of the use of force, a relatively inexpensive persuasion tool that is used not as part of diplomacy, but as a last resort when it fails. (Blechman and Wittes, 1999),

As shown in the past, such as in the intervention in Libya in 2011, there are specific instances in which the United States is willing to use its military might. During the 2011 Arab Spring revolutions, the United States, backed by the authorization of the Security Council and in conjunction with NATO, led a military intervention on Libya, with the intent of protecting civilians under the Responsibility to Protect principle. The intervention was narrow in scope, primarily enacted through a naval blockade and a no-fly zone (Jentleson, 2013). It

exemplified some of the trends that the United States has followed during military interventions in recent history, military action in conjunction with other States through cooperation, alliances and coalitions such as NATO in the invasion of Afghanistan, and limited scope of operations such as the bombing campaigns in Bosnia during the crisis in the Balkans (Edwards and Solarz, 1997). In the case of military action in the Strait of Hormuz, it is very likely to be another operation of narrow scope with the support of various allies.

Another tool of foreign policy at the United States' disposal is that of diplomacy. According to author Hedley Bull, there are different ways to understand diplomacy, but in its most basic form, diplomacy can be understood as "the conduct of relations between states and other entities with standing in world politics by official agents and by peaceful means" (Bull, 1977, p.156). In another definition, Bull highlights the importance of diplomats: "Diplomacy is the management of international relations by negotiation; the method by which these relations are adjusted by ambassadors and envoys; the business or art of the diplomatist" (Bull, 1977, p.156).

Hedley Bull also highlights two important aspects of diplomacy for the study at hand. In the first place, diplomatic relations can be bilateral or multilateral, through the direct link and communication between two States, or by the communication between several States, through conferences or international organizations. Likewise, diplomacy allows the negotiation of agreements, so that the only possible scenario is not confrontation between two or more political communities. Negotiation can only take place when the interests of both parties overlap, and diplomacy, through communication and persuasion, is what enables one party to identify the area of overlapping interests, and to bring it to the attention of the other parties so that the negotiation may commence (Bull, 1977).

The importance of diplomacy as a tool of foreign policy and possible course of action for the United States is further emphasized when one takes into consideration an interview done with Doctor Dorian B. Kantor, an expert in American Government and National Security. When asked about the importance of diplomacy as a tool of foreign policy of the United States in

the case of the Strait of Hormuz, his answer highlighted diplomacy as the best of the available options:

The U.S must be willing to offer some carrots along with maintaining the sticks (for example: sanctions, some form of protective measures against illegal attacks). The Iran Deal offered sufficient incentives to Iran to abide by some rules – and the U.S needs to participate in other multilateral efforts to contain the threat of military or nuclear escalation in the region. Diplomatic efforts must be applied to keep the Gulf States from obtaining nuclear weapons – because nuclear escalation and potential conflagration is not an acceptable option. So, the only option is de-escalation: which is what we saw after the IRGC captured a British oil tanker (*Stena Imperio*). But some degree of spunk on the part of the international community is necessary – international cooperation to ensure safe passage of goods and resources as it is required by the UNCLOS and without engaging in outright gunboat diplomacy. (Kantor, 2020)

# CHAPTER 1: ANALYISIS OF THE CONFLICT IN THE STRAIT OF HORMUZ

The analysis of the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz will be conducted using the GSDRC conflict analysis topic guide by the author Sian Herbert. This GSDRC document provides a framework for the analysis of conflict and proposes a set of variables to analyze (Herbert, 2017). These variables are actors, profile, and dynamics of the conflict, in the order that they will be used in this investigation.

#### Actors

The main actors that currently have an effect on the security and stability of the Strait of Hormuz are the United States and Iran, as they both have interests in the Strait and contend over its control.

Within the "actors" variable, the GSDRC conflict analysis framework asks the researcher to consider who the main actors are, what their interests are, what power or resources they have, what their incentives and disincentives for conflict and peace are, and what capacities they have to affect the conflict (Herbert, 2017).

#### The United States

The United States is a country located in North America, it has a population of 328 million people and a GDP of 21 trillion dollars (World Bank, 2019). It is one of the main actors in the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz and has been since the second half of the twentieth century, when the Carter Doctrine called for continued presence in the Strait and the gulfs that surround it to protect it from external threats (Brands, Steven and Kenneth, 2019).

Although the current interests of the United States in the Strait of Hormuz will be expanded upon in the second chapter of this thesis, in its basic form, the U.S recognizes the importance of the Strait of Hormuz as one of the main passageways through which oil transits worldwide as well as it being in close geographical proximity to its allies in the region. As previously stated, the Strait of Hormuz which is located between Oman and Iran is the passageway through which over twenty million barrels of oil transit daily (Ma, 2020). Having learned from the experience of the oil crises of 1973, when the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) enacted an oil embargo against the United States which caused an economic recession and highlighted its dependence on foreign oil (Ilie, 2006), the U.S now recognizes the stability of the Strait of Hormuz as an important factor in the price of oil (Meredith, 2020), and, therefore, its economy.

Likewise, the United States has a variety of allies in the Middle East such as Saudi Arabia, whose safety and protection is relevant to the U.S insofar as it intends to maintain a foothold in the Middle East and counterbalance Iranian influence in the region. Saudi Arabia is one of the most important oil producing countries worldwide, with over 17% of the world's proven petroleum reserves in its territory (OPEC, 2020). Furthermore, Saudi Arabia sits across the

Persian Gulf from Iran, which since 2019 initiated a series of attacks on Saudi oil facilities through the Houthi rebels located in the neighboring country of Yemen. The most recent attack took place on March of this year, when Iranian backed Houthi rebels launched over 14 drones and 8 missiles at the Ras Tanura oil refining facilities on the Saudi coast (Wassef, 2021).

In terms of power and resources, the United States is also one of the most powerful nations on Earth. As previously stated, The U.S has the largest GDP in the world with over twenty trillion dollars in the year 2019 (World Bank, 2019). Moreover, according to the 2019 Military Strength Ranking, it possesses the largest military in the world (Loanes, 2020) and has far reaching resources, especially in the Middle East. This becomes evident when one takes into account that the national security budget for the fiscal year 2021 is of 740 billion dollars (U.S department of Defense, 2020).

Considering the relevance that the Middle East represents to the United States, it has strived to maintain an important presence in the region, and therefore has a sizeable capacity to affect the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz. According to the American Security Project, the U.S maintains over 36 military facilities (naval, army, air, or joint facilities) in the Middle East (ASP, 2021) spread out over countries such as Turkey, Syria, Iraq, Jordan, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Bahrain, Qatar, the UAE, Oman, and Afghanistan (Chughtai, 2020). Furthermore, in recent years, and amid rising tensions with Iran, the U.S Central Command has called for the constant presence of U.S aircraft carriers in the region and the Persian Gulf (Larter, 2020). Although the *Nimitz* aircraft carrier has since left the Persian Gulf headed for the Indo-Pacific (Ng, 2021), the U.S maintains a strong presence in the Gulf, through the Makin Island Amphibious Ready Group (USNI, 2021). Thus, the presence of the United States in the Middle East is ubiquitous, and it is clear that both Iran and the Strait of Hormuz are within its reach and its capacity to affect the conflict.

Lastly, there are a series of incentives and disincentives that the United States responds to with regards to the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz. In the first place, acts of aggression on

behalf of Iran in the Strait of Hormuz, such as the harassment of ships crossing the Strait as well as the occasional seizing of tankers such as the *Stena Impero* (Al Jazeera, 2019) are intolerable and impossible for the United States to ignore. Likewise, Iran's strategy of using proxies throughout the Middle East to carry out its objectives are of special interest to the U.S. Several factions pervasive in the region, such as the Houthis in Yemen and Hezbollah in Lebanon, the Gaza strip, and Iraq among others are rebel armed groups backed financially, and militarily by Iran (Parker and Noack, 2020), which it uses them to carry out attacks that it cannot be held accountable for.

On the other hand, there are also a few incentives for the United States to strive for peace in the Strait. In the first place, the continuation of the conflict in the Strait and the surrounding regions has led to the escalations of conflict between the United States and Iran, which becomes evident in the shooting down of a U.S drone by Iran's military in June of 2019 (Martinez, McLaughlin and McGraw, 2029) and the direct attack performed by Iran against U.S military bases in Iraq in January and March of 2020 as retaliation for the U.S drone strike that killed Iranian major general Qasem Soleimani (Pickrell, 2020). The escalation of tensions between both nations brought them close to an open confrontation in March of 2020, and it continues to be a possibility if no measures to deescalate the conflict are taken. Secondly, even though the JCPOA is currently in a stalemate after President Donald Trump pulled out of the agreement, it represents another incentive for peace. The nuclear deal between the United States and Iran establishes the precedent that a negotiated agreement that results in the attainment of both parties' interests is a real possibility – an alternative that can be applied not only in the nuclear arena but also in the endeavor to maintain the stability of the Strait through rules-based peace.

#### Islamic Republic of Iran

The Islamic Republic of Iran is a country located in Western Asia, more specifically in the Middle East. As of 2019, it had a population of 82 million, and a GDP of \$454 billion. It is one of the main actors to consider in the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz, as it is

geographically positioned at its northernmost point and has historically vied against the United States and its allies in the region over control of the waterway, participating in important conflicts that took place in and around the Strait, such as the Tanker War and the Iran-Iraq war during the 1980s. Recently, Iran has ramped up its challenge against the United States in the Strait, conducting acts of aggression against ships transiting the Strait and against Saudi oil facilities.

Iran's interest in the Strait of Hormuz stems from the same economic motivations as those of the U.S, the importance of the Strait as one of the main shipping routes worldwide, and the artery through which twenty percent of the oil transits daily. However, as opposed to the United States' interests in the security and the stability of the Strait to keep oil prices from fluctuating and therefore guaranteeing a steady supply and protecting its economy; Iran's strategy is the opposite: the control of the Strait as a bargaining chip or a threat against sanctions imposed on its economy by the United States. After the United States and its European allies imposed sanctions on Iran's oil-based economy in 2011, Iran threatened to militarily shut down the Strait (Haynes, 2019), arguing that it had "comprehensive control over the strategic waterway" (Sayyari, 2011). The blockage of the Strait by Iran through military action or the laying of mines (Ma, 2020) would mean an oil price hike of up to 100 dollars per barrel (Meredith, 2020), affecting the United States in a bid to counter the sanctions imposed by it.

Aside from the economic interest in the Strait that the United States also recognizes, Iran also has a particular interest in the Strait as it plays a role in its pursuit of regional hegemony. According to author Suzanne Maloney, since the Islamic Republic of Iran consolidated in 1979 after the revolution, it has pursued a strategy of "Extending its influence throughout the broader Middle East" (Maloney, 2017, p.26). This strategy for influence over the region can be traced back to Iran's imperial legacy: even before taking the form of a modern State, it strived to position itself as a dominant regional power. In the aftermath of the revolution, this endeavor to become a regional power became influenced by a new religious factor, whereby "the Islamic Republic cast itself as the inspiration and model for the broader Muslim world"

(Maloney, 2017, p.26). In recent times, Iran's strategy to achieve the regional hegemony it desires has taken the form of financial and military support for proxies to continue to destabilize countries such as Yemen, Lebanon, and Iraq.

This religious regional hegemon role that Iran intends to fulfill is also accompanied by a strong anti-imperial approach, which came as a result of the disastrous effect that the great powers of the twentieth century wrought in its territory. The Strait of Hormuz as well as the Persian Gulf play a pivotal role in its anti-imperialist perspective, by means of which it has sternly rejected the influence of other powers in the gulf, especially that of the United States, as having a security role in region (Maloney, 2017). Therefore, counterbalancing the United States and its allies' presence in the Gulf as well as the Strait of Hormuz is part of a larger, inherited, and religious strategy for hegemony in the region and the U.S' aspiration to provide security for the Strait, as stated in the Carter Doctrine, or recent attempts at building a coalition for the protection of the Strait, directly challenge Iran's claim to regional hegemony.

In terms of power and resources, as previously stated Iran has a GDP of 454 billion dollars, and due to the importance that the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps plays in its domestic and foreign policy as declared by its constitution (Maloney, 2017), it has the 14<sup>th</sup> largest military in the world (Loanes, 2019). Likewise, through its proxies in the region, it has the resources to indirectly influence conflicts throughout the Middle East and maintains support in several countries of the region.

Furthermore, although Iran possesses a much smaller military than the United States, the way it has constructed its naval forces to be able to efficiently operate in the Strait provide it with considerable capacity to affect the conflict in the Strait. As explained by Jonathan Schroden "Iran has constructed a navy with considerable asymmetric and other capabilities designed specifically to be used in an integrated way to conduct area denial operations in the Persian Gulf and Strait of Hormuz, and they routinely exercise these capabilities and issue statements of intent to use them" (Schroden, 2011, p.36).

Lastly, there are a series of incentives for Iran to continue the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz. First, the GSDRC framework for conflict analysis highlights the importance of history as an incentive for actors to continue in conflict, specifically retribution for historical grievances (Herbert, 2017). In addition to the historical endeavor undertaken by Iran to become a regional hegemon and to oppose influence from the great powers in the region, the memory of the humiliating defeat suffered at the hands of the United States during the Tanker War, which resulted in the sinking of most of the Iranian navy (Crist, 2009) could be considered an incentive for Iran to continue in the conflict. Second, without having built nuclear weapons, the only trump card that Iran can make use of to counter the sanctions imposed by the United States and its allies is the threat of blocking the Strait of Hormuz (Thompson, 2011).

On the other hand, there are also a few disincentives for Iran to continue its current course in the conflict. The actions undertaken by the Tehran in the Strait, such as the seizing of oil tankers and the attack on transiting ships affect not only the United States but a myriad of other countries too. For example, the *Stena Impero*, a ship seized by the Iranian navy in 2019 flew the flag of the United Kingdom and prompted a response by it (Al Jazeera, 2019). These acts put Iran in a tough position in the regional and international scene, where it holds a negative perception on several fronts, causing it to become increasingly isolated. Finally, the incidents that have taken place in and around the Strait have led to an increase of tensions between itself and the United States. The escalation of conflict between the two represents a dangerous scenario to the Islamic Republic of Iran, which would not be able to militarily face the U.S and come out on top, i.e., Tanker War would repeat itself.

#### Profile

The profile of a conflict refers to the history and the political, social, economic, and environmental contexts that have shaped the conflict (Herbert, 2017). The profile of the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz will be constructed on the basis of the recent history of the

Strait, starting in the second half of the twentieth century up to the triggers and current dynamics.

The Strait of Hormuz has a long history of conflict, which can be attributed to the long-lasting rivalry between the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran, which have long contended against each other over the control of the Strait. The starting point of the feud between the United States and Iran can be traced back to the Iranian revolution that took place in 1979 after a series of demonstration and revolts against the United States-backed, secular government of Mohammed Reza Pahlavi led to the collapse of the government and the founding of a new Islamic Republic, "a theocracy built on ideological choices inspired to a great extent by Ayatollah Khomeini" (Erdbrink, 2019). Following the ascent of a new form of government headed by Ayatollah Khomeini, a series of incidents such as the hostage crisis at the U.S Embassy in Tehran in 1981 and the Iran-Contra scandal (BBC, 2020) soured relations between the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran. This tense relation, in turn, affected the stability of the Strait, a region that in the years to follow would become plagued by conflict.

The first conflict that would affect the Strait was the Iran-Iraq War. This conflict began when Iraq, led by Saddam Hussein, crossed the border into southern Iran with the intent to capture oil resources in the neighboring country, and escalated as the Gulf Cooperation Council, a pro-Western organization, got involved to support Iraq. Although it began as a war fought on land, it soon spilled into the Persian Gulf and the Strait of Hormuz, as Iraq began targeting Iranian oil tankers in the Gulf and the Strait and set in motion what would become the Tanker War of the 1980s. In retaliation for the attacks on its ships, Iran started targeting both Iraqi and Kuwaiti oil tankers transiting through the Strait, which lead to a hike in oil prices and the direct involvement of the United States (Crist, 2009).

In response to the Soviet Union's invasion of Afghanistan as well as the nascent and hostile Iranian regime that bordered the Persian Gulf, the President of the United States Jimmy Carter introduced the Carter Doctrine in his State of the Union message in 1980, by stating

that "an attempt by any force to gain control of the Persian Gulf region will be regarded as an assault on the vital interests of the United States of America, and such an assault will be repelled by any means necessary, including military force (as cited in Kuniholm, 1986, p.343). The Carter Doctrine highlighted the importance that the Persian Gulf played to the United States' interests, called for continued U.S presence in the region, and, by the end of the Carter presidency, resulted in the establishment of U.S military bases in Oman and the formation of the Rapid Deployment Force, a contingent tasked with the security of the Strait and the Persian Gulf (Kuniholm, 1986).

Following the guidelines set by the Carter Doctrine and the Reagan Corollary, which affirmed the U.S' ties with Saudi Arabia, and due to the need to protect oil tankers transiting through the Persian Gulf and the Strait of Hormuz, the United States got directly involved in the conflict in the all-important passageway. Formal/direct intervention in the Strait began via Operation Earnest Will in 1987, in which the United States escorted Kuwaiti ships through the Strait and started a deterrence and counterinsurgency campaign by positioning unconventional naval forces such as small patrol craft, boats, helicopters, and floating patrol bases to provide surveillance in the passageway and to prevent the Iranian forces from attacking or placing mines. However, Iran did not cease its activities in the gulf, and, following a series of incidents in which the U.S directly confronted the IRGCN, President Ronald Reagan initiated a more aggressive strategy to face Iran's hostile activities, which took the form of Operation Praying Mantis. During the operation, the U.S destroyed two Iranian oil facilities and a number of the IRGCN's ships and aircraft. The operation was a success for the United States, and Iran was left severely weakened and unable to face the U.S navy in the Strait (Crist, 2009).

In the aftermath of the Iran-Iraq war, the next conflict to affect the region was looming on the horizon, in the form of the Gulf War. In 1991, Iraq led an invasion into Kuwait in response to the emirate's refusal to forgo the loans made to Iraq during the Iran-Iraq war (Ibrahim, 2020). Following the invasion of Kuwait, the United States led a military intervention by a coalition of 33 countries that resulted in the reestablishment of Kuwaiti sovereignty and an

overwhelming defeat of the Iraqi military (Taylor, 2016). Although this conflict did not directly affect the Strait of Hormuz, the operations conducted in Iraqi and Kuwaiti territory were backed by naval operations in the Persian Gulf, the Red Sea, and the Gulf of Oman. The staggering defeat of the Iraqi army through the combined air, ground, and naval forces speaks to the United States' capacity to affect conflict in the region and to maintain control over the Strait.

## **Dynamics**

The GSDRC topic guide describes the dynamics of a conflict as the analysis of current conflict trends, such as escalation or de-escalation of conflict, what factors reinforce or undermine each other and what are the triggers of the conflict (Herbert, 2017). In the case of the Strait of Hormuz the current trend is one of escalation of conflict, in which the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran have responded to the actions of the other through aggressive acts in a self-reinforcing cycle that has led both States close to an open confrontation in the Strait and the greater region. Likewise, since 2011, there have been a few triggers that have led to the escalation of conflict and the souring of the relation between the U.S and Iran.

The first trigger that can be identified in the recent history of the conflict took place in 2011, when Iran threatened to completely shut down the Strait in response to the United States and its European allies' sanctions on its economy (Haynes, 2011). During this incident, a few of Iran's top military officials stated that "not a drop of oil will pass through the Strait of Hormuz" (Rahimi, 2011), and that it would be very easy for Iran to shut down the choke point as its navy had complete control over the Strait. Furthermore, Iran carried out a series of wargames in the Strait during this period of time, to show its neighbors as well as the U.S. the might of its military (BBC, 2011). In response to the threat, the United States Defense Department stated that it would use the fifth fleet, which was stationed in Bahrain to stop Iran's advances, and that no action that impeded the freedom of navigation through the Strait would be tolerated (Gladstone, 2011)

There on out, the relations between the United States and Iran entered a more peaceful phase and a trend of de-escalation of conflict, until 2018, when the United States withdrew from the nuclear deal which had been negotiated and implemented with Iran in 2015 and put a stop to the friendly relation between both states. Shortly after withdrawing from the JCPOA, arguing that some of the requirements of the deal were not being met, the U.S once again imposed sanctions on Iran's oil-based economy. This led to the enrichment of nuclear material by Iran, to which the United States responded with a "maximum pressure campaign" in order to force Iran to stop supporting its proxies in the region and to limit Iran's advances on nuclear and missile technology (Hennigan and Walcott, 2019). This was the beginning of the current trend of contention and strife between both countries.

Following these events and amid an atmosphere of tension, another trigger can be identified: the seizing of the cargo ship *Stena Impero* and the assassination of General Qassim Soleimani, which opened the gate to an escalation of conflict. In 2019, the oil tanker *Stena Impero* which was flying the flag of the United Kingdom was seized by the Iranian navy. Shortly thereafter, the U.S conducted a drone strike in the Bagdad International Airport in Iraq which resulted in the assassination of General Qassim Soleimani. The Iranian government responded stating that severe revenge awaited the criminal behind the assassination of Soleimani, who was considered a national hero and a very important figure in the country, second only to Ayatollah Khamenei (BBC, 2019).

This event marked the most prominent escalation of conflict between the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran in recent history. In retaliation for the assassination of Soleimani Iran launched a missile attack on two U.S military bases in Iraq, Ain Al Assad military base and Erbil military base in January of 2020. Although the attacks did not result in any casualties, it prompted a response from NATO, which stated that Iran should "refrain from further violence" (Stoltenberg, 2020). In March of the same year, Iran launched another attack on the U.S base Camp Taji in Iraq, which housed U.S and coalition troops. The 18 ballistic missiles that hit the base were launched by Iran-sponsored militias and resulted in

the deaths of three coalition personnel and 12 wounded (Pickrell, 2020). The conflict is currently on a trend of escalation and has affected the stability of the Strait of Hormuz.

#### Conclusion

The application of the GSDRC conflict analysis framework to the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz allows for a thorough understanding of the importance of the Strait to both the United States and Iran, and it underscores a variety of factors that will become important in the following chapters. In the first place, the profile of the conflict provides the reader with the overarching history of the Strait of Hormuz, especially with regards to the contention over control of the Strait between the United States and Iran. In addition to this historical overview, the dynamics of the conflict pinpoints specific triggers in the last decade that have caused the Strait to regain relevance in the international scene, and highlights the trends of escalation of conflict that are currently taking place in the Strait as well as in the larger relation between the U.S and Iran. Lastly, the in depth analysis of the actors that play a role in the conflict, namely the U.S and Iran, elucidates the reasons as to why both actors are interested in the control over the Strait, but most importantly, it shines light upon the capacities of both actors to affect the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz, information that will become important in the las chapter, where the U.S' capability to provide security to the Strait will be analyzed.

# CHAPTER 2: UNITED STATES' FOREIGN POLICY OBJECTIVES REGARDING THE STRAIT OF HORMUZ

To ascertain the U.S' foreign policy objectives with regard to the Strait of Hormuz a series of primary sources from the United States' government will be taken into account. The primary sources that will be used for this section are the Quadrennial Defense Review of 2014, the National Security Strategy for 2017, the National Defense Strategy for 2018, the press briefings of the Bureau of Near Eastern Affairs, and White House Press Briefings. These are the fundamental documents that define the current U.S foreign policy, security

concerns and objectives, and that when taken into consideration enables the study to identify the way in which the United States has approached the problem of the Gulf. Likewise, the press briefings provide the most updated information with regards to the matter at hand, as well as current policies and objectives for the Biden administration.

## Quadrennial Defense Review 2014

The Quadrennial Defense Review was the last of its kind since it was replaced in 2018 by the National Defense Strategy. Although outdated, by the year 2014 the QDR recognized Iran as one of the most important threats to U.S national security, as it "remains a destabilizing actor that threatens security by defying international law and pursuing capabilities that would allow it to develop nuclear weapons" (Quadrennial Defense Review, 2014, p.5). Even though in the year 2014 the nuclear deal was still being negotiated and was shaping up to be able to stop Iran from developing nuclear weapons, Iran's other activities in the region were found to be destabilizing and threatening to U.S allies. Likewise, the QDR highlighted the importance of staying on top of the threat that ballistic missile technology posed to U.S security, an issue that has become even more relevant since the year 2014 and that is noted in the National Security Strategy of 2017 as well as the National Defense Strategy of 2018 (Quadrennial Defense Review, 2014).

With regards to the Middle East as a whole, the QDR calls on the U.S and its allies in the region to maintain their capabilities so as to being able to respond to aggression in what it described as a volatile region. Therefore, maintaining a strong military posture that enables the U.S. to respond to crises, deter aggression, and assure its allies is the main strategy to build security in the region. The QDR also points out the existence of threats of different nature, such as conventional threats, and terrorist and paramilitary challenges (Quadrennial Defense Review, 2014).

Although the 2014 Quadrennial Defense Review does not directly mention the Strait of Hormuz, it does highlight the importance of the Gulf Region in the wider context of the Middle East. Furthermore, it states that the Department of Defense will "develop new or expanded forums to exchange views with allies and partners on the threats and opportunities facing the Gulf, particularly through the multilateral forum of the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC)" (Quadrennial Defense Review, 2014) a regional intergovernmental union formed in 1981 that includes all the Arab States of the Persian Gulf (GCC, nd).

# National Security Strategy 2017

The National Security Strategy of 2017 specifically refers to the Middle East as one of the regions in which the United States must tailor an approach to be able to protect its national interests. It calls for a Middle East "that is not a safe haven or breeding ground for jihadist terrorists, not dominated by any power hostile to the United States, and that contributes to a stable global energy market" (United States White House, 2017, p.48).

Among the threats that the strategy identifies in the Middle East region are State collapse, Jihadist ideology, socio economic stagnation, and regional rivalries, it also refers repeatedly to Iran as a destabilizing factor to the region. Iran's role in the region is highlighted as a state that sponsors terrorism, that has taken advantage of the unstable situation of the Middle East to expand its influence, and as one that uses proxies and partners to carry out its interest in the region. It also recognizes the growing threat that it poses to the U.S. as it has continued to develop ballistic missiles and intelligence capabilities. Lastly, with regards to Iran, it underscores Tehran can resume its work on the development of nuclear weapons at any moment, since the 2015 nuclear deal proved to be flawed and insufficient. To face Iranian aggression, the Strategy claims it will deny all paths for nuclear weapons for Iran and neutralize its malign influence in the region. (United States White House, 2017)

Although the 2017 National Security Strategy does not explicitly refer to the Strait of Hormuz, it can be inferred by the claim that the Middle East must contribute to a "stable global market" (United States White House, 2017, p.48), that the stability of the Strait and

the Gulfs that surround it, which are waterways through which oil is transported to the rest of the globe, is important to the United States' foreign policy objectives.

# National Defense Strategy 2018

The National Defense strategy of 2018, or rather, the summary of the document provided by the U.S. government since official document is classified, designates Iran as the most significant challenge to the Middle East's stability, due to its pursuit of nuclear weapons as well as its sponsorship of terrorism. It claims that Iran is moving to create an "arc of influence and instability" (Mattis, 2018, p.2) over the region while vying to achieve hegemony. In the section titled Strengthen *Alliances and Attract New Partners*, the National Defense Strategy calls for the creation of enduring coalitions in the Middle East that are not dominated by any hostile power to the United States and that work as a counterbalance to Iran (Mattis, 2018).

With regards to the Strait of Hormuz, the National Defense Strategy does not directly mention it, and neither does it mention the surrounding Gulfs; however, similarly to the National Security Strategy of 2017, it highlights the importance of a Middle East that "contributes to stable global energy markets and secure trade routes" (Mattis, 2018, p.9).

#### Bureau of Near Eastern Affairs

The Bureau of Near Eastern Affairs is in charge of the U.S. foreign policy in the Middle East and the North African region. It operates in several countries throughout the Middle East, and uses diplomacy as its main tool, which it utilizes to "end conflict, highlight the value of education, and enhance respect for democratic institutions" (Hood, nd).

Since January of 2021 when President Joe Biden was sworn into office, the Bureau has released a variety of press statements concerning the security of the Middle East. In February, department spokesperson Ned Price issued a press release condemning the Houthi attacks impacting civilians in Yemen and Saudi Arabia (Price, 2021). In the same month Secretary of State Antony J. Blinken made a press statement expressing outrage by the rocket attacks

conducted by Iran on the U.S.-led coalition base near Erbil airport in Iraq (Blinken, 2021). At the beginning of March, Ned Price led a press briefing in which he stated, "we continue to believe that diplomacy is the most effective means to ensure that Iran is permanently and verifiably prevented from ever obtaining a nuclear weapon" (Price, 2021).

These press briefings underline that Iran continues to be at the center of U.S. foreign policy in the Middle East as the most prominent destabilizing factor in the region, whether by direct attacks, or through its proxies and their hostile actions in countries such as Saudi Arabia and Yemen. Likewise, there is also mention of the desire to continue a diplomatic approach to prevent Iran from developing nuclear weapons. However, there is no mention of the security of the Strait of Hormuz.

# White House Press Briefings

White House press briefings are conducted by White Press Secretary Jen Psaki on a daily basis. The function of the press briefings is to create a direct channel of communication between the executive branch of the federal government and civil society through the media, which then conveys the information to the public.

Since President Joe Biden was sworn into office, White House press briefings have addressed the Middle East several times. The first press briefing carried out by Press Secretary Jen Psaki took place on January 20, 2021, and it addressed the issue of Iran. After being asked about next steps when it comes to Iran, Psaki answered, "the President has made clear that he believes that through follow-on diplomacy, the United States should seek to lengthen and strengthen nuclear constraints on Iran and address other issues of concern. Iran must resume compliance with significant nuclear constraints under the deal in order for that to proceed." (Psaki, 2021). In the following months, this issue was touched upon several times, with a focus on the nuclear negotiations and the possibility of a new nuclear deal.

In these press briefings Press Secretary Psaki stated that "if Iran comes back into full compliance with the obligations under the JCPOA... the United States would do the same, and then use that as a platform to build a longer and stronger agreement that also addresses other areas of concern" (Psaki, 2021), and that "it's really up to Iran to come back into full compliance and — with its obligations under the JCPOA" (Psaki, 2021). From these statements it is possible to infer that the Biden administration does consider Iran as a very important matter in its foreign policy, and that the focus is on the nuclear deal and stopping Iran from continuing the development of nuclear weapons. Likewise, as opposed to its predecessor, the new administration is more willing to negotiate with the Iranian regime under the condition that Iran comes into full compliance with what was agreed upon in the JCPOA.

Apart from the nuclear deal, the press briefings have also focused on Iran's role in the Houthi attacks that took place at the beginning of 2021. Secretary Psaki referred several times to the attacks that took place in Saudi Arabia, stating that the government condemned those attacks and that the group "continually demonstrates a desire to prolong the war by attacking Saudi Arabia, including attacks on citizens" (Psaki, 2021)

However, the press briefings have not touched upon the Strait of Hormuz since the beginning of the Biden presidency. This could be due to the decline in tensions in the Strait on account of no further incidents having taken place, and a focus on the nuclear deal with Iran. Nonetheless, it is important to call attention to the Press Secretary's repeated emphasis on diplomacy with regard to the United States' approach to the issue of Iran. Psaki stated that "we've been clear that we feel the best path forward is a diplomatic path. And that's why we are working with our European partners to see what is possible along that front" (Psaki, 2021). The Press Secretary also maintained that the United States is adamant in its effort to address the issues with Iran through indirect diplomacy to achieve its interests in the area of nuclear weapons with Iran:

Diplomacy with Iran is ongoing, just not in a direct fashion at the moment. There are communications through the Europeans and through others that enable us to explain to the Iranians what our position is, with respect to the compliance-for-compliance approach, and to hear what their position is. (Psaki, 2021)

This emphasis on diplomacy provides an insight into the U.S.' preferred foreign policy tool at the current moment.

#### Conclusion

From the primary sources previously consulted, it can be concluded that the United States has a regionwide approach to the Middle East, with an emphasis on Iran as the primary threat to its interest. The 2014 Quadrennial Defense Review as well as the 2017 National Security Strategy single out the Middle East as a region that the U.S. must pay special attention to, as it is plagued with instability, conflict, terrorism, and hostile powers to the U.S. The foreign policy strategy chosen to deal with such instability is the creation of coalitions with U.S. allies and partners in the regions to face challenges that might arise in the future, as well as the maintenance of a strong military presence that is capable of adapting to the aggression of hostile regimes and future threats.

All of the sources consulted pinpoint Iran as the main threat to the U.S.'s interests in the region as a destabilizing factor due to its ties to several terrorist groups that it uses to expand its influence, its development of ballistic missile capabilities, and its perseverance in the development on nuclear weapons. The National Defense Strategy of 2018, the 2014 QDR and the 2017 National Security Strategy state that to deal with this threat the United States must form enduring coalitions in the Middle East, strengthen alliances, and attract new partners to counterbalance Iranian influence. It is also clear from the White House press briefings, that a salient foreign policy objective of the United States is to reestablish negotiations with Iran to prevent the Islamic regime from attaining nuclear weapons.

With regards to the Strait of Hormuz, the Strait is not explicitly mentioned in any of the primary sources consulted, however, both the 2017 National Security Strategy and the 2018 National Defense Strategy highlight the importance of the Middle East that "contributes to stable global energy markets and secure trade routes" (Mattis, 2018, p.9). From this quote, it is possible to infer that the Strait of Hormuz as well as the surrounding gulfs are a priority of the United States, whose goal is to ensure its stability and security to guarantee a stable global energy market. Furthermore, in accordance with the distinguishing of Iran as the most prominent threat to the United States' interests in the region, Iran is also a destabilizing factor when it comes to the Strait of Hormuz, so the attention paid to the Islamic regime on other matters also applies to its influence over the security of the Strait.

# CHAPTER 3: FOREIGN POLICY ALTERNATIVES AT THE UNITED STATES' DISPOSAL

In light of the previously stated importance of the Strait of Hormuz due to it being one of the most important shipping routes worldwide, which serves as a passageway for twenty percent of the oil that is traded daily, and that sits at the entry point to the Persian Gulf where important allies of the U.S are located, it is imperative that the United States be ready to respond in case of future incidents in the Strait.

Bearing in mind that the recent incidents that took place are the result of Iranian aggression, future hostilities on the part of Iran that threaten the stability of the Strait should be met by the comprehensive use of foreign policy tools by the United States. These foreign policy tools at the U.S's disposal can be divided into two different types, diplomacy, through direct or indirect negotiation with Iran to stablish an agreement or deal that stops Iranian aggression in the passageway and hard power: (i) through the threat of the use of military force; (ii) through military intervention, by escalation or by replicating the U.S's response in the Tanker War; (iii) or through the imposition of sanctions on the Iranian economy so as to elevate the costs of carrying out certain disruptive activities.

# **Diplomacy**

## **Direct Diplomacy**

Diplomacy has been the lasting way in which States have conducted relations with one another. It emphasizes peaceful means to the resolution of disputes and the relations between States. As stated by Hedley Bull, diplomacy allows for the negotiation between States through communication, persuasion and identifying the areas where the interests of the parties overlap.

Considering that Iran is the most prominent threat to the stability of the Strait of Hormuz, direct diplomacy would entail the re-establishment of diplomatic relations between Washington and Tehran to conduct a negotiation with regards to the functioning of the Strait. Inspired by the concept of "managed strategic competition," in which Kevin Rudd holds that a rules-based system to manage the competition between the United States and China will keep the developing rivalry between those two States in check and prevent a direct confrontation (Rudd, 2021), the negotiation between Iran and the United States would be carried out with the objective of creating a system of rules by which both countries are willing to play; one that accommodates both Iranian and U.S interests in the Strait. This negotiation could result in Iran's compliance with UNCLOS, which, in articles 37 and 38, states that "in straits which are used for international navigation between one part of the high seas or an exclusive economic zone and another part of the high seas or an exclusive economic zone [...] all ships and aircraft enjoy the right of transit passage, which shall not be impeded" (United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, 1994). Another possible outcome of this negotiation would be the creation of a new international institution such as UNCLOS that would ensure the security of the Strait, or a political commitment such as the one produced by the P5+1 in the nuclear deal (Frifield, 2015, p.1) that would translate into rights but also limitations on what Iran can and cannot do in the Strait.

Nevertheless, the re-establishment of diplomatic relations between Washington and Tehran is an unlikely precondition that must be fulfilled before negotiation can begin through direct

diplomacy. Diplomatic relations between the U.S and Iran were severed on April of 1980 after the Iran hostage crisis of 1979 due to the Iranian government's failure to act in favor of the release of the hostages taken by militant students who took control of the American embassy in Tehran (U.S. Virtual Embassy Iran, nd). Since that event, the U.S has not had a physical embassy in the Islamic Republic of Iran and has instead conducted relations with Iran through the mediation of Switzerland as a protecting power, where Switzerland has acted as a mediator between the U.S and Iran (Swiss Community, 2014). Furthermore, due to the decision of former president Trump to abandon the JCPOA and reinstate sanctions against the Iranian regime, the recent events that have taken place in the Strait of Hormuz as well as the larger region of the Middle East such as the attack on U.S bases by Iran's proxies, tensions between the U.S and Iran are at an all-time high with no possibility or will to reestablish diplomatic relations in sight.

## **Indirect Diplomacy**

Although diplomacy in its classic sense is understood as the bilateral and direct communication between two States, Hedley Bull also highlights that diplomacy and negotiation need not be direct; it can occur multilaterally through the communication between several States or through international institutions.

The case of the Strait of Hormuz is one especially suited for the United States to engage in indirect diplomacy and negotiation with Iran due to two main reasons: First, the widespread importance that the Strait has for other countries around the world which would be affected by the fluctuation of oil prices or whose oil tankers and cargo ships have been targeted by Iranian aggression. Second, the precedent of indirect diplomacy in the nuclear deal with Iran that came into effect in 2016.

In the first place, the Strait of Hormuz is a passageway of great importance to a number of countries. Due to its role in the transit and export of oil the Middle Eastern to the rest of the world, the incidents that take place in the Strait can affect the price of oil and the stability of

global energy markets. According to the U.S Energy Information Administration, "more than 85% of these crude oil exports went to Asian markets, with Japan, India, South Korea, and China representing the largest destinations." (EIA, nd). This explains why these countries among many others would be interested in safeguarding the right of transit passage that is stipulated in article 38 of the UNCLOS. Likewise, exporting countries such as Saudi Arabia, which "moves the most crude oil and condensate through the Strait of Hormuz" (EIA, nd) and whose economy largely depend on their oil exports also have an interests in maintaining the Strait open.

In addition to the oil tankers that transit through the Strait, of which 11,000 crossed in the year 2018 (Refinitiv, 2018), a large amount of cargo ships and natural gas tankers cross the daily as well. The substantial number of ships crossing the Strait increases the possibility that ships from different countries become the target of future attacks or seizures, such as the British *Stena Impero*, the Japanese *M Star* that was attacked in 2010 (The Economic Times, 2019), or the Singapore-flagged *Alpine Eternity* which came under fire by the IRGC in 2015 (Martinez, 2015). These occurrences can lead to international disputes involving not only the country whose flag the ship flies, but also the countries where the crew is from, such as the case of a South Korean tanker seized in April of 2021, whose crew consisted of "11 Myanmar nationals, five South Koreans, two Vietnamese and two Indonesians" (BBC, 2021). Ensuring the security of the Strait can prevent such international disputes, which can come to involve several countries at once and have lasting effects on their relations.

Aside from the widespread interest in maintaining the security and stability of the Strait, the nuclear deal or the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action that came into effect in 2016 after years of multilateral negotiation, sets the precedent that a negotiated solution to an issue of international importance is a viable alternative. The negotiation process of the JCPOA can be traced back to the year 2006, when the P5+1group found the common interest to stop Iran from developing nuclear weapons. The negotiations themselves began in the year 2013 when, in exchange for a reduction of sanctions imposed on the Iranian economy, Tehran agreed to halt the development of certain key components of its nuclear program (Washington Post,

2013). The agreement came into effect in 2016. It called for a series of limitations on the Iranian nuclear program that would preclude the Islamic regime from being able to develop nuclear weapons, in exchange for the lifting of the sanctions imposed on its economy, which had caused an economic recession and the reduction of its GDP by 9% between 2012 and 2013, and again in 2015 (BBC, 2019). Despite the U.S having pulled out of the deal in 2018, the agreement could be considered to have been a success in the first years after its implementation, since the United States managed to stop Iran from continuing the development of nuclear weapons, and the Iranian economy was able to recover from the recession (BBC, 2019).

The JCPOA was the result of a multilateral negotiation between the P5+1 and Iran, and in spite of not being a treaty, it did "reflect political commitments between Iran, the P5+1 and the European Union" (Frifield, 2015, p.1). Therefore, building on the success of the multilateral negotiation that led to the signing and implementation of the JCPOA, preventing further hostile incidents and ensuring the stability of the Strait of Hormuz could potentially be achieved through multilateral negotiations with Iran led by the United States and its allies.

In addition, there are several international institutions that operate inside and outside the Gulfs that the United States could cooperate with to carry out the multilateral negotiation. In the first place, the P5+1 was successful in negotiating the JCPOA and therefore has the requisite knowledge to conduct a negotiation with Iran and to represent the wishes and interests of the wider international community. Secondly, the GCC, comprising the Arab States of the Gulf, is an international organization dedicated to increasing the cooperation, integration and coordination of the Arab States regarding economic, financial, and customs affairs among many others (GCC, nd). This organization is likely to be especially interested in finding a solution to Iranian aggression in the Strait, due to the close geographical proximity between the member States, the Strait, and the Islamic Republic of Iran. Moreover, the U.S and the GCC have a history of cooperation in the region, with a mutually beneficial relationship in which the GCC depends on the U.S' political and military support, and the U.S finds in the GCC a powerful counterbalance to Iranian expansion in the Gulf Region (El-

Katiri, 2014). Therefore, the United States could count on the GCC as another partner with which to carry out a multilateral negotiation with Iran. Finally, the States that are members of the IMSC have also demonstrated an interest in ensuring the right of passage through the Strait of Hormuz. Although the coalition is currently focused on reassurance and deterrence to achieve this goal, a paradigm shift on behalf of the U.S. in favor of a negotiated solution could propel the IMSC toward a different approach to the security of the Strait.

These negotiations would be carried out with the intention of producing a rules-based system like the one mentioned in the section of direct diplomacy, in which the parties involved would impose a set of limits on Iran with regards to what it can and cannot do in the Strait of Hormuz, in order to ensure the Straits' security and stability.

## Hard power

### Threat of use of force

Threat of the use of military force is a foreign policy tool at the United States' disposal that has been used especially in the period following the Vietnam war, due to the difficulty that policy makers have faced in gaining domestic support for military action in the wake of the controversial results of that conflict (Blechman and Wittes, 1999). Some policy makers believe that threat of use of force is a valuable tool at the U.S.' disposal, one that should be used "in support of diplomacy to achieve limited ends without resorting to all-out contests of arms" (Blechman and Wittes, 1999, p.2). According to author Romana Sadurska, the threat of the use of force will "erode the target's resistance to change or will pressure it toward preserving the status quo" (Sadurska, 1988, p.241). This threat of use of force takes the form of a message, one that can be explicit or implicit, and that indicates that force will be used in the case a rule or demand is not complied with by the target of the threat (Sadurska, 1988).

In the case of the Strait of Hormuz, the U.S would be threatening the use of force against the Islamic Republic of Iran, most likely through an implicit message cautioning Iranian officials against further actions in the Strait. This implicit threat would take the form of what Sadurska

refers to as positive actions: "moving army units into proximity with the target audience, engaging in military maneuvers, increasing a military budget, or deploying certain weapons" (Sadurska, 1988, p.243). As previously stated, the United States has a great capacity to affect the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz or the surrounding gulfs, with a sizable military presence in the region exemplified by the over 36 military bases (ASP, 2021) as well as a host of allies willing to support its operations.

In the event of further incidents in the Strait, or other forms of aggression on the part of Iran or its proxies, the United States could engage in positive actions to give Iran a clear warning. There is precedence for the United States ramping up its military presence throughout the Middle East in the face of Iranian aggression. In 2019, former U.S president Donald Trump moved army units into de region, by deploying over 1500 additional troops to military bases in the Middle East, sent weapons such as bombers and patriot missiles to U.S. allies and threatened to send additional weapons to Saudi Arabia by declaring a national security related emergency that would allow him to bypass Congress in the sale of billions of dollars' worth of weapons to the Middle Eastern ally (Stewart et al, 2019). Likewise, the U.S deployed one of its most powerful deterrents, a carrier strike group led by aircraft carrier USS *Abraham Lincoln* (Johnson and Williams, 2019). Furthermore, throughout 2020 and more recently in 2021, the U.S has engaged in military maneuvers and drills in the Arabian Sea, with the most recent taking place in March of 2021, when the United States, together with Belgium, France and Japan, initiated a major naval exercise in the Persian Gulf, bringing together the militaries from all of the countries participating in the exercise (AP, 2021).

Taking this precedent into account, future positive actions on behalf of the U.S would likely consist of an increase in military presence in the region, the sales of arms to its closest allies such as Saudi Arabia, and depending on the gravity of the hostility by the Islamic Republic of Iran, even the deployment of a carrier strike group to the region. This is a staple method of the United States to project power around the globe, as becomes evident in other regions such as the South China Sea, where the U.S deployed the USS *Theodore Roosevelt* aircraft carrier at the beginning of 2021 (Lendon, 2021). Nevertheless, as opposed to Donald Trump's

clearly articulated threat of potential consequences aimed at Iran, President Biden is likely to take a more cautious approach.

In spite of the effectiveness of the threat of the use of force through positive actions or public declarations against Iran in the past, former chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff General Collin Powell cautions against threatening the use of force without giving it the importance it deserves, he states that "the threat and use of force must be a last resort and must be used decisively" and that it must be used "only when U.S. leaders actually have decided that they are prepared to use force" (as cited in Blechman and Wittes, 1999) This warning is especially important when one considers the tense relation between the United States and Iran, and the latter's willingness to respond to U.S military action in the past, such as the direct attacks on U.S military bases in Iraq in 2020. Threat of use of force by the U.S. in the Strait of Hormuz is unlikely to be ignored by Iran, and could cause an escalation of tensions, bringing both States closer to an armed conflict.

### Intervention

Although a very unlikely scenario, if Tehran actually carried out the threats it made in the past, and decided to block the Strait either through military action or by the laying of mines throughout the chokepoint, there exists the possibility that the United States could set in motion a strategy of escalation in the region, and possibly lead a military intervention into the Strait in order to reestablish the right of transit passage through the corridor. Historical precedent exists for U.S. military action in the Gulfs and the Strait of Hormuz. The Carter Doctrine was enunciated by President Jimmy Carter in 1980 and stated that any bid to gain control of the Gulf region by any force opposed to the United States would be met by any means necessary, not excluding military action (Kuniholm, 1986). It came into practice during the previously discussed Tanker War, in which the U.S. utilized military means to ensure the stability of the Strait. Moreover, the influence of the Carter Doctrine can be perceived in the Quadrennial Defense Review of 2014, which states that in order to counter

the threats that Iran might pose to the region "the Department will maintain all options on the table" (Quadrennial Defense Review, 2014).

In the first place, intervention in the Strait of Hormuz could take the form of a strategy of escalation by the United States. Escalation refers to the intensification of conflict, and is defined as "an increase in the intensity or scope of conflict that crosses threshold(s) considered significant by one or more of the participants" (Morgan et al, 2008, p.8). Escalation takes place when one of the parties involved in the conflict considers that a qualitative change has occurred as a result of a new development, and it can occur as an interactive process between the actors involved in the conflict, where one actor responds to the other actor's actions by escalating the use of force or threat of the use of force and transgressing certain escalation thresholds (Morgan et al, 2008). In the recent history of the Strait of Hormuz and the broader relations between the United States and Iran, the clearest example of the escalation of conflict between the two nations is that of the assassination of Qasem Soleimani, an escalation threshold transgressed by the United States to which Tehran responded with a direct ballistic missile attack on U.S. bases in Iraq.

Although escalation thresholds are socially constructed and subjective (Morgan et al, 2008), and cannot therefore be accurately ascertained, two escalation thresholds the United States is likely to respond to, were Iran to engage in them, would be the blocking of the Strait of Hormuz or an increase in the intensity of attacks by Iran's proxies in the region. A strategy of escalation by the U.S would entail a response, with the objective of achieving a position defined as *escalation dominance*, "a condition in which a combatant has the ability to escalate a conflict in ways that will be disadvantageous or costly to the adversary while the adversary cannot do the same in return, either because it has no escalation options or because the available options would not improve the adversary's situation" (Morgan et al, 2008, p.15). In the past, former National Security Advisor to the Trump administration John Bolton recommended preemptive strikes against Teheran in order to destroy its nuclear program (Al Jazeera, 2019). This is an example of a strategy of escalation, one to which Iran would not be able to produce a symmetrical response.

Secondly, a strategy of intervention that the United States could undertake in order to guarantee the stability of the Strait is that of escorting ships through the chokepoint, a strategy already utilized in the Tanker War, when the U.S. escorted Kuwaiti ships (Eisenstadt, 2019). Furthermore, escorting tankers and cargo ships is a strategy already utilized by the United Kingdom after the seizing of the British-flagged oil tanker *Stena Impero* in 2019. In response to that incident perpetrated by Iranian forces, the Royal Navy was tasked by Britain's Defense Ministry with escorting British-flagged ships through the Strait of Hormuz (Taylor, 2019). Taking this into account, the United States Navy on its own or with support of the IMSC could provide escort to U.S.- flagged ships, as well as its allies' ships that it deems important, presenting a potent deterrent to further seizures and attacks by Iran or its proxies in the region.

Although escalation of the conflict is a strategy the United States has engaged in with regard to Iran in recent times, it is important to highlight that escalation, even when initiated as a policy, can occur quickly and lead to unintended consequences, such as an open conflict. Likewise, due to its subjective nature (Morgan et al, 2005), the transgression of an escalation threshold that the United States could consider insignificant and an appropriate incremental step, could be perceived by Iran as a drastic move and trigger a correspondingly drastic response, possibly leading to an enduring conflict. Conflict with Iran is a very costly possibility, to which the American public has expressed opposition. According to Shibley Telhami, by 2020 a "majority of Americans blame[d] Trump's policies for heightened tensions with Iran" (Telhami, 2020), and a 2019 University of Maryland poll showed that "[t]hree-quarters of Americans, including a majority of Republicans, sa[id] that war with Iran would be unwarranted" (Telhami, 2020). Likewise, a Gallup poll conducted in the same year showed that 78% of respondents favored reliance on nonmilitary efforts to stop Iran's nuclear program, and 65% expressed concern that the U.S. would be too quick to use military force (Younis, 2019). In sum, a strategy of escalation that could lead to a slippery slope and eventually a war with Iran is a possibility to which the American public has shown opposition, and one which would need the support of the American public to succeed.

On the other hand, the escorting of ships that transit the Strait is a cost-effective measure that would ensure the safety of the oil tankers and cargo ships crossing the chokepoint, and it would provide an effective deterrent against Iranian aggression. Nevertheless, it is important to call attention to the fact that attacks on U.S. ships in the past served as the trigger to a variety of conflicts including the Tanker War, and an attack by Iran on one of the escorting vessels could mean the transgression of an escalation threshold in the eyes of the United States.

#### Sanctions

One of the most effective strategies the United States has employed against the Islamic Republic of Iran is the imposition of sanctions against its economy. Economic sanctions are defined by Jonathan Masters as the "withdrawal of customary trade and financial relations for foreign- and security-policy purposes" (Masters, 2019). They can be comprehensive, by directing the sanctions against the economic activity of an entire country, or more targeted, aimed at specific individuals, groups, or businesses (Masters, 2019). Economic sanctions are seen as a measure in between war and words, through which policy makers can respond to what they perceive as problematic or inadmissible behavior in international politics (Brzoska, 2014). They are a tool utilized by States and international organizations with a variety of objectives, such as deterrence, subversion, coercion, international/domestic symbolism, and message sending (as cited in Lumen, 2018).

The United States used economic sanctions against Iran in the past and has recently reinstated them in the aftermath of the Trump administration's abandonment of the JCPOA. Beginning in 2010 the Obama administration together with its European allies imposed economic sanctions on Iran's oil-based economy, in what was called a two-track strategy: the imposition of sanctions to inflict damage on the Iranian economy coupled with the offer of lifting the sanctions if an agreement was made with regards to Iran's development of a nuclear program that could eventually lead to nuclear weapons (Fernandez, 2018). These sanctions had a significant effect upon the Iranian economy, causing its GDP to shrink

through the years 2012, 2013 and 2015 (BBC, 2019). The two-track strategy could be considered a success insofar as the pressure put on the Iranian economy forced its government to come to the negotiation table, and the so-called nuclear deal was developed between Rouhani's government and the P5+1 that came into effect in 2016. In spite of the success of the JCPOA, after the Trump administration decided to abandon the nuclear deal in 2018, it reinstated sanctions on the Iranian economy shortly thereafter, with the objective of compelling "Iran to permanently abandon its well-documented outlaw activities and behave as a normal country" (Pompeo as cited in Dwyer and Kaplow, 2018).

The imposition of sanctions on Iran to ensure the stability of the Strait of Hormuz would be done with the objective of deterrence in mind. According to Christine Lumen, sanctions "allow ... to take non-military actions in cases where military force, where the cost of using force is too high, but a strong response is required" (as cited in Lumen, 2018). The U.S. would apply sanctions to deter Iran from blocking or destabilizing the Strait, applying economic pressure to Iran as a way to punish it for aggressive behavior.

Although generally considered effective, it is important to point out that the United States is currently employing sanctions against Iran, and that, as stated above, Iran has threatened to shut down the Strait of Hormuz in response to the sanctions imposed on its economy in 2011. Further sanctions on the Iranian economy could have the opposite effect of that intended: it could force Tehran to use the bargaining chip of its purported control over the Strait and shut down the waterway, affecting the global energy market and forcing a response on the part of the United States, a worst-case scenario for the Biden administration. Additionally, economic sanctions have been criticized by the collateral effect they have on the larger population. Gordon and Lopez point out that "the sanctions against Iraq between 1991 and 2003 clearly had major humanitarian consequences, but even in sanction regimes targeting decision-makers, side effects are likely to occur" (as cited in Brzoska, 2014).

#### Conclusion

Having broken down the foreign policy alternatives at the United States' disposal into several strategies that it can use in order to ensure the stability of the Strait, as well as their inherent benefits and disadvantages, it becomes clear that no one strategy on its own will be enough to safeguard the security of the Strait and keep Iranian aggression at bay. On that account, the U.S. can combine several of these strategies into a two-pronged approach: a proactive long-term strategy using multilateral negotiation, and a reactive strategy in case Iran continues to vie for control over the Strait through belligerent actions that are hostile to U.S. interests. This reactive strategy can combine the different hard power foreign policy tools previously analyzed, framed within the escalation approach, the United States can engage in threat of use of force, escorting and further military action depending on the gravity of the activities that Iran conducts in the Strait.

In the first place, diplomacy through multilateral negotiation is the most viable soft power approach to the situation of the Strait of Hormuz. Indeed, the United States has extensive experience in multilateral negotiation with Iran due to the nuclear deal, and the success of that deal sets the precedent that a negotiation with Iran is possible. Therefore, a multilateral negotiation between the U.S. and its allies and Iran that brings Iran into a rules-based system such as UNCLOS should be the long-term proactive strategy for the U.S. Secondly, in the case that Iran continues to seize cargo ships and oil tankers, threatens the closing of the Strait, and uses its proxies to conduct attacks on U.S allies in the region, it is necessary for the United States to respond accordingly. Framed within the escalation approach, additional incidents in the Strait should be responded to accordingly by the United States, beginning by the threat of use of force, then the escorting of ships by the U.S. navy as a cost-effective measure to provide security and lastly, through additional and progressively escalating forms of military intervention, matching or outdoing Iran's activities.

# Conclusions

This study was conducted with the objective of understanding the importance that the Strait of Hormuz has for the United States, the history of the conflict that plagues the region, how

recent incidents in the Strait have reignited its importance both for the international community and for the United States, and to what extent the latter will be able to ensure the security of the Strait with the purpose of vindicating its interests and those of its allies. Having concluded the investigation, several conclusions can be drawn.

First, by applying the GSDRC analytical framework to the conflict in the Strait of Hormuz, it was made clear that the control of the Strait has long been the subject of competition between the United States and the Islamic Republic of Iran. Conflict in the Strait can be traced back to the Iran-Iraq war and the Tanker War that both took place in the 1980s. From that moment on, the United States has given great importance to the Strait of Hormuz and the surrounding Gulfs, importance which is clearly stated in the Carter Doctrine. Fast forwarding to the last decade, a series of events have revitalized the importance of the Strait to the United States and its allies, as Iran's aggression has caused its vulnerability to come to light once again. From the analysis of the actors involved, it is clear that both the United States and Iran are especially interested in exercising control over the Strait, both have the capability to affect the conflict in the waterway, and both are unlikely to seize their efforts to achieve their objectives.

From the analysis of the primary sources such as the National Security Strategy of 2018 that contain the foreign policy and security concerns and objectives of the United States, as well as White House and Bureau of Eastern Affairs press briefings that incorporate the U.S.' most current attitudes and policies towards the Strait and the Middle East, a few findings come to light. Firstly, the United States confers special importance to the Middle East, as an unstable region in which continued presence is a priority. Secondly, the competition over the control of the Strait with Iran is part of a larger framework of animosity between the United States and Iran, an enmity that can be traced back decades and is currently on the rise as the U.S considers Iran the most prominent threat to its interests in the region. And lastly, although the Strait of Hormuz is not directly mentioned, several sources highlight the significance of a stable global energy market, as well as of secure trade routes, all of which directly relate to

the Strait, it being the passageway through which over 20% of the oil trade transits daily, and one of the most important shipping routes worldwide.

Lastly, the exploration of the foreign policy alternatives at the United States' disposal makes it clear that it is very capable of providing security in the Strait of Hormuz through a wide range of options. The most viable foreign policy tool available to the United States in terms of soft power is that of indirect diplomacy, through multilateral negotiations with Iran to establish a rules-based system that limits the Middle Eastern country's ability to destabilize the Strait. Furthermore, the Biden administration has shown a strong inclination towards multilateralism that is clearly stated in the White Press Briefings consulted, so indirect diplomacy is likely to be the U.S.' current preferred approach to the situation. Together with this strategy, hard power tools such as intervention and threat of use of force can also be used by the U.S to keep Iran in check, and to maintain the stability and security of the Strait of Hormuz in pragmatic terms.

# REFERENCES

- Aggestam, K. (2014). Conflict Analysis and International Relations. In *The Palgrave Handbook of Global Political Psychology* (pp. 148-164). Palgrave Macmillan, London.
- Al Jazeera. (2019, September 12). *Bolton was fired after disagreeing with Trump on Iran:*\*Report. Donald Trump News | Al Jazeera.

  https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/9/12/bolton-was-fired-after-disagreeing-with-trump-on-iran-report
- Al Jazeera. (2019, September 27). Seized UK-flagged tanker Stena Impero leaves Iranian port.

  Iran News | Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/9/27/seized-uk-flagged-tanker-stena-impero-leaves-iranian-port
- Al Jazeera. (2020, January 8). World reacts after Iran fires missiles at US targets in Iraq.

  Conflict News | Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/1/8/world-reacts-after-iran-fires-missiles-at-us-targets-in-iraq
- American Security Project. (2021, February 10). *U.S Military Bases and Facilities in the Middle East* | *ASP*. https://www.americansecurityproject.org/national-security-strategy/u-s-bases-in-the-middle-east/
- Associated Press Television News. (2021, March 22). *US, 3 others, conducting naval drills in the Arabian Sea*. Republic World. https://www.republicworld.com/world-news/middle-east/us-3-others-conducting-naval-drills-in-the-arabian-sea.html
- BBC News. (2011, December 28). *Iran threatens to block Strait of Hormuz oil route*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-16344102
- BBC News. (2019, December 9). How renewed US sanctions have hit Iran hard. Retrieved May 2021, from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-48119109

- BBC News. (2019, September 25). *Stena Impero: Iran "still investigating" seized British tanker*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-49826807
- BBC News. (2019a, June 11). Iran nuclear deal: Key details. Retrieved March 2020, from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-33521655
- BBC News. (2020, January 3). *Qasem Soleimani: US kills top Iranian general in Baghdad air strike*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-50979463
- BBC News. (2021, February 2). *Iran allows crew of seized South Korean tanker to leave*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-55902633
- Bennett, A., & Elman, C. (2007). Case study methods in the international relations subfield. *Comparative Political Studies*, 40(2), 170-195.
- Birhuega, D. C. (2015). Proceso de toma de decisión en política exterior: quién y cómo decide. Elementos para su comprensión. InterNaciones, (5), 5-23.
- Blechman, B. M., & Wittes, T. C. (1999). Defining moment: The threat and use of force in American foreign policy. Political Science Quarterly, 114(1), 1-30
- Blinken, A. J. (2021, February 15). *Rocket Attacks in Erbil*. United States Department of State. https://www.state.gov/rocket-attacks-in-erbil/
- Brands, H., Steven, C. A., & Kenneth, P. M. (2019). Rip the Carter Doctrine, 1980–2019. American Enterprise Institute. https://www.aei.org/articles/rip-the-carter-doctrine-1980-2019.
- Brooke-Holland, L. (2020, January 15). *UK forces in the Middle East region*. House of Commons Library. https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8794/#:%7E:text=The%20RAF's%20operational%20headquarters%20in,Gulf%20for%20UK%20naval%20vessels

- Brzoska, M. (2014, May 24). *The Power and Consequences of International Sanctions*. E-International Relations. https://www.e-ir.info/2014/05/19/the-power-and-consequences-of-international-sanctions/
- Bull, H. (1977). The anarchical society: a study of order in world politics. Macmillan international Higher education.
- Chughtai, A. (2020, January 13). *U.S military presence in the Middle East and Afghanistan*. Conflict News | Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/1/13/us-military-presence-in-the-middle-east-and-afghanistan
- Coqui, M. B. (2000). La reconceptualización de la seguridad: el debate contemporáneo. Revista Mexicana de Política Exterior, 59, 9-31
- Crist, D. B. (2009). Gulf of Conflict: A History of U.S-Iranian Confrontation at Sea. Washington Institute for Near East Policy.
- Dalacoura, K. (2020, May 6). The Study of the International Relations of the Middle East since 2011: The Global-Regional Intersection. Middle East Centre. https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/mec/2020/05/06/the-study-of-the-international-relations-of-the-middle-east-since-2011-the-global-regional-intersection/
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research.
- Department of Defense, 2014. Quadrennial Defense Review 2014.
- Dwyer, C., & Kaplow, L. (2018, November 2). *U.S. Is About To Reinstate Iran Sanctions*.

  Here's What That Means. MIDDLE EAST.

  https://choice.npr.org/index.html?origin=https://www.npr.org/2018/11/02/663377999/u
  -s-is-days-away-from-reinstating-iran-sanctions-heres-what-that-means
- Edwards, M., & Sloraz, S. (1997, March 1). Foreign Policy Tools: Budget, Aid, Defense, Force. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/articles/foreign-policy-tools-budget-aid-defense-force/

- Eisenstadt, M. (2019, June 27). Past U.S.-Iran Confrontations Hold Lessons for Current Crisis.

  The Washington Institute for Near East Policy.

  https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/past-u.s.-iran-confrontations-hold-lessons-for-current-crisis
- El-Katiri, M. (2014). *United States-Gulf Cooperation Council Security Cooperation in a Multipolar World*. ARMY WAR COLLEGE CARLISLE BARRACKS PA STRATEGIC STUDIES INSTITUTE.
- Erdbrink, T. (2019, February 11). *The Iran Revolution at 40: From Theocracy to 'Normality.'*The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/10/world/middleeast/iran-revolution-40.html
- Farrell, R. B. (1966). Approaches to comparative and international politics. Evanston, Ill.: Northwestern University Press.
- Fernández, D. (2018). Las relaciones de Estados Unidos con Irán (2009-2018): tensión, distensión, tensión. *Revista UNISCI*, (48)
- Frifield, (2019, November,19)F. Letter by Julia Frifield Assistant Secretary Legislative Affairs on the nuclear deal with Iran. United States Department of State.

  http://www.humanrightsvoices.org/assets/attachments/documents/11.24.2015.state.dept. letter.jcpoa.pdf
- Gearan , A., & Warrick, J. (2013, November 24). World powers reach nuclear deal with Iran to freeze its nuclear program. Retrieved March 2020, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/gdpr-consent/?next\_url=https%3a%2f%2fwww.washingtonpost.com%2fworld%2fnational-security%2fkerry-in-geneva-raising-hopes-for-historic-nuclear-deal-with-iran%2f2013%2f11%2f23%2f53e7bfe6-5430-11e3-9fe0-fd2ca728e67c\_story.html
- Gilsinan, K. (2019, June 27). Why Does the U.S. Protect the Strait of Hormuz? The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2019/06/why-does-us-protect-Strait-hormuz/592654/

- Gladstone, R. (2011, December 28). *Noise Level Rises Over Iran Threat to Close Strait of Hormuz*. The New York Times.

  https://www.nytimes.com/2011/12/29/world/middleeast/noise-level-rises-over-iran-threat-to-close-strait-of-hormuz.html
- Gulf Cooperation Council. (2021). *The Charter*. About GCC. https://www.gcc-sg.org/en-us/AboutGCC/Pages/Primarylaw.aspx
- Gulf Cooperation Council. (n.d.). *Objectives*. About GCC. Retrieved June 6, 2021, from https://www.gcc-sg.org/en-us/AboutGCC/Pages/StartingPointsAndGoals.aspx
- Haynes, S. (2019, July 23). *The Strait of Hormuz Is at the Center of Iran Tensions Again.*Here's How the Narrow Waterway Gained Wide Importance. Time.

  https://time.com/5632388/strait-of-hormuz-iran-tanker/
- HERBERT, S (2017). Conflict analysis: Topic guide. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham.
- Holsti, K. J. (1970). National role conceptions in the study of foreign policy. International studies quarterly, 14(3), 233-309.
- Hood, J. (2021). *Bureau of Near Eastern Affairs*. United States Department of State. https://www.state.gov/bureaus-offices/under-secretary-for-political-affairs/bureau-of-near-eastern-affairs/
- Hubbard, B. (2020, January 5). U.S. Allies in Mideast Fear They May Pay Price for Suleimani Killing. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/05/world/middleeast/mideast-allies-suleimani.html
- Ibrahim, A. (2020, August 1). *Thirty years on, Iraq's invasion of Kuwait still haunts region*. Kuwait News | Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/8/1/thirty-years-on-iraqs-invasion-of-kuwait-still-haunts-region

- Ilie, L. (2006). Economic considerations regarding the first oil shock, 1973-1974.
- International Crisis Group. (2020, August 24). Strait of Hormuz. Crisis Group. https://www.crisisgroup.org/trigger-list/iran-us-trigger-list/flashpoints/hormuz
- International Maritime Security Construct. (n.d.-a). *About Us.* IMSC International Maritime Security Construct CTF SENTINEL. Retrieved March 2021, from https://www.imscsentinel.com/about-us
- International Maritime Security Construct. (n.d.). *IMSC International Maritime Security*Construct CTF SENTINEL CTF SENTINEL International Maritime Security

  Construct. IMSC International Maritime Security Construct CTF SENTINEL.

  Retrieved March 2021, from https://www.imscsentinel.com/
- Jentleson, B. W. (2013). American foreign policy: the dynamics of choice in the 21st century. New York: Norton.
- Johnson, A., & Williams, A. (2019, May 5). *U.S. deploying carrier strike group to send "message" to Iran.* NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/world/u-s-sending-carrier-strike-group-send-message-iran-n1002196
- Kaldor, M. (2013). In defence of new wars. Stability: International journal of security and development, 2(1).
- Kaldor, M. (2013). New and old wars: Organised violence in a global era. John Wiley & Sons.
- Keohane, R. O. (1975). International organization and the crisis of interdependence. International Organization, 29(2), 357-365.
- Kuniholm, B. R. (1986). The Carter Doctrine, the Reagan Corollary, and Prospects for United States Policy in Southwest Asia. *International Journal*, *41*(2), 342-361.
- Larter, D. B. (2020, March 24). With Iran tensions high, a U.S military command pushes a dubious carrier strategy. Defense News.

  https://www.defensenews.com/naval/2020/03/24/with-iran-tensions-high-centcompushes-a-dubious-carrier-strategy/

- Lendon, B. (2021, April 13). US and China deploy aircraft carriers in South China Sea as Philippines prepares for joint exercises. CNN. https://edition.cnn.com/2021/04/12/china/south-china-sea-taiwan-military-tensions-intl-hnk/index.html
- Loanes, E. (2019, June 7). *These are the 25 most powerful militaries in the world in 2019*.

  Business Insider Nederland. https://www.businessinsider.nl/most-powerful-militaries-in-the-world-ranked-2019-9?international=true&r=U.S
- Lumen, C. THE POWER OF SANCTIONS AS A TOOL OF INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS: FACTORS THAT DEFINE ITS SUCCESS.
- Ma, A. (2020, January 13). How the Strait of Hormuz, a narrow stretch of water where ships carry \$1.2 billion of oil every day, is at the heart of spiraling tensions with Iran. Business Insider Nederland. https://www.businessinsider.nl/Strait-of-hormuz-explainer-oil-us-iran-tensions-2019-7?international=true&r=U.S
- Maloney, S (2017): The Roots and Evolution of Iran's Regional Strategy, Washington, DC: Atlantic Council, 2017. *SIRIUS–Zeitschrift für Strategische Analysen*, 2(2), 199-200.
- Marshall, G., & Scott, J. (Eds.). (1998). A dictionary of sociology.
- Martinez, L. (2015, May 15). *Iran Fires at Singapore Tanker in Strait of Hormuz*. ABC News. https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/iran-fires-singapore-tanker-strait-hormuz/story?id=31045253
- Martinez, L., McLaughlin, E., & McGraw, M. (2019, June 20). *Trump says Iranian shootdown of U.S military drone may have been a "mistake."* ABC News. https://abcnews.go.com/International/iran-shoots-american-drone-international-airspace-us-official/story?id=63825990
- Masters, J. (2019, August 12). *What Are Economic Sanctions?* Council on Foreign Relations. https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/what-are-economic-sanctions
- Mattis, J. (2018). Summary of the 2018 national defense strategy of the United States of America. Department of Defense Washington United States.

- Mearsheimer, J. J. (1994). The false promise of international institutions. International security, 19(3), 5-49.
- Meredith, S. (2020, January 8). Oil prices will climb above \$100 a barrel if Iran blocks the Strait of Hormuz, analysts predict. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2020/01/08/oil-prices-to-jump-above-100-if-iran-blocks-the-Strait-of-hormuz-analysts.html
- Morgan, F., Mueller, K., Medeiros, E., Pollpeter, K., & Cliff, R. (2008). The Nature of Escalation. In *Dangerous Thresholds: Managing Escalation in the 21st Century* (pp. 7-46). RAND Corporation. Retrieved June 3, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7249/mg614af.9
- Morgenthau, H. J. (1966). To intervene or not to intervene. Foreign Aff., 45, 425.
- Morgenthau, H. J., Thompson, K. W., & Clinton, W. D. (1985). Politics among nations: The struggle for power and peace.
- Navias, M. (2019, June 14). The First Tanker War. History Today. https://www.historytoday.com/history-matters/first-tanker-war
- Ng, T. (2021, February 3). *China-U.S relations: American aircraft carrier group leaves Middle East for Indo-Pacific*. South China Morning Post. https://www.scmp.com/news/china/military/article/3120358/china-us-relations-american-aircraft-carrier-group-leaves-long
- Nye Jr, J. S. (2005). Soft power: The means to success in world politics. Public affairs.
- Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries. (2020). *OPEC : Saudi Arabia*. OPEC: Saudi Arabia. https://www.opec.org/opec\_web/en/about\_us/169.htm
- Painter, D. S. (2014). Oil and geopolitics: The oil crises of the 1970s and the cold war. Historical Social Research/Historische Sozialforschung, 186-208.
- Parker, C., & Noack, R. (2020, January 3). *Iran has invested in allies and proxies across the Middle East. Here's where they stand after Soleimani's death.* Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2020/01/03/iran-has-invested-allies-proxies-across-middle-east-heres-where-they-stand-after-soleimanis-death/

- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice. Sage publications.
- Pickrell, R. (2020, March 12). A rocket attack on a coalition base in Iraq killed 2 U.S troops and injured a dozen other people. Business Insider Nederland. https://www.businessinsider.nl/rockets-have-hit-a-base-housing-us-troops-in-iraq-2020-3?international=true&r=U.S
- Price, N. (2021, February 7). *Houthi Attacks Impacting Civilians*. United States Department of State. https://www.state.gov/houthi-attacks-impacting-civilians/
- Price, N. (2021b, March 1). *Department Press Briefing March 1, 2021*. United States

  Department of State. https://www.state.gov/briefings/department-press-briefing-march1-2021/
- Psaki, J. (2021, January 20). *Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki, January 20, 2021*. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/01/20/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-january-20-2021/
- Psaki, J. (2021b, February 5). *Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki and Council of Economic Advisers Member Jared Bernstein, February 5, 2021*. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/02/05/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-and-council-of-economic-advisers-member-jared-bernstein-february-5-2021/
- Psaki, J. (2021c, February 8). *Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki, February 8, 2021*. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/02/08/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-february-8-2021/
- Psaki, J. (2021d, February 10). *Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki, February 10, 2021*. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/02/10/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-february-10-2021/

- Psaki, J. (2021d, March 11). *Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki, March 11, 2021*. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/03/11/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-march-11-2021/
- Psaki, J. (2021e, March 12). Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki and National Security Advisor Jake Sullivan, March 12, 2021. The White House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/03/12/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-march-12-2021/
- Refinitiv. (2019, July 31). *Gulf tensions: The threat to Strait of Hormuz oil*. Refinitiv Perspectives. https://www.refinitiv.com/perspectives/future-of-investing-trading/gulf-tensions-the-threat-to-strait-of-hormuz-oil/
- Rosenau, J. N. (Ed.). (1974). Comparing Foreign Policies: Theories, Findings, and Methods.

  Halsted Press
- Rudd, K. (2021). Short of War: How to Keep US-Chinese Confrontation from Ending in Calamity. *Foreign Aff.*, 100, 58.
- Sadurska, R. (1988). Threats of force. Am. J. Int'l L., 82, 239.
- Schroden, J. (2011). A Strait comparison: Lessons learned from the 1915 Dardanelles campaign in the context of a Strait of Hormuz closure event. CENTER FOR NAVAL ANALYSES ALEXANDRIA VA.
- Slade, M. (2019, September 30). Understanding Iran, the U.S. and the Strait of Hormuz > USC Dornsife Global Policy Institute > USC Dana and David Dornsife College of Letters, Arts and Sciences. USCDornsife. https://dornsife.usc.edu/global-policy-institute/understanding-iran-the-u-s-and-the-Strait-of-hormuz/
- Stewart, P., Ali, I., & Rampton, R. (2019, May 24). *U.S. deploys more troops to Middle East, blames Iran for tanker attacks*. U.S. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-iran-military-idUSKCN1SU1VQ
- Swiss Community. (2014, August 27). *Switzerland as a Protecting Power*. SwissCommunity. https://www.swisscommunity.org/en/news-media/swiss-review/article/switzerland-as-a-protecting-

- power#:%7E:text=The%20Protecting%20Power%20mandate%20is,is%20appreciated %20by%20both%20States
- Taylor, A. (2016, January 16). *Operation Desert Storm: 25 Years Since the First Gulf War*.

  The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/photo/2016/01/operation-desert-storm-25-years-since-the-first-gulf-war/424191/
- Taylor, A. (2019, July 25). *British navy begins escort for ships in strategic Strait of Hormuz*. Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/middle\_east/britain-sends-warships-to-escort-tankers-through-the-strategic-strait-of-hormuz/2019/07/25/d7c7d6d2-aecc-11e9-9411-a608f9d0c2d3\_story.html
- Telhami, S. (2020, January 5). The Majority of Americans Blame Trump's Policies for Heightened Tensions with Iran, and the Killing of Suleimani Won't Change That.

  Foreign Policy. https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/01/03/killing-suleimani-iran-tension-trump-fault/
- THE ECONOMIC TIMES English Edition, E-Paper. (2019, June 14). *All you need to know about Strait of Hormuz*. The Economic Times. https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/international/business/all-you-need-to-know-about-strait-of-hormuz/what-is-strait-of-hormuz/slideshow/69787774.cms
- Thompson, M. (2011, December 28). *Can Iran Close the Strait of Hormuz?* TIME.Com. https://nation.time.com/2011/12/28/can-iran-close-the-strait-of-hormuz/
- U.S Energy Information Administration. (2020, May 7). U.S. energy facts explained consumption and production U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). U.S. Energy Facts Explained. https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/us-energy-facts/
- U.S. DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE. (2020, February 10). DOD Releases Fiscal Year 2021 Budget Proposal.

- https://www.defense.gov/Newsroom/Releases/Release/Article/2079489/dod-releases-fiscal-year-2021-budget-proposal/
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. (2012, September 5). Strait of Hormuz is chokepoint for 20% of world's oil Today in Energy U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). TODAY IN ENERGY. https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=7830
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. (2019, June 20). The Strait of Hormuz is the world's most important oil transit chokepoint Today in Energy U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). TODAY IN ENERGY.
  https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=39932
- U.S. Naval Institute Staff. (2021, March 8). *USNI News Fleet and Marine Tracker: March 8, 2021*. USNI News. https://news.usni.org/2021/03/08/usni-news-fleet-and-marine-tracker-march-8-2021
- U.S. Virtual Embassy Iran. (n.d.). *Policy & History*. Retrieved June 6, 2021, from https://ir.usembassy.gov/our-relationship/policy-history/#:%7E:text=The%20United%20States%20severed%20diplomatic,Iran%20on%20April%207%2C%201980.&text=The%20hostages%20eventually%20were%20releas ed,for%20U.S.%20interests%20in%20Iran
- United Kingdom Maritime Trade Operations. (n.d.). *Indian Ocean*. Retrieved March 2021, from https://www.ukmto.org/indian-ocean
- United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, November 16, 1994.

  https://www.un.org/Depts/los/convention\_agreements/texts/unclos/part3.htm
- United nations Maritime Trade Operations. (n.d.). *About UKMTO*. Retrieved March 2021, from https://www.ukmto.org/about-ukmto
- United States. White House, 2017. National Security Strategy 2017.

- Van Evera, S. (1997). *Guide to methods for students of political science*. Cornell University Press.
- Wassef, K. (2021, March 8). Saudi Arabia oil facilities targeted in drone and missile attack by Iran-backed Houthis in Yemen. CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/saudiarabia-drone-attack-oil-infrastructure-ras-tanura-dhahran-houthis-yemen-iran/
- Wilson III, E. J. (2008). Hard power, soft power, smart power. The annals of the American academy of Political and Social Science, 616(1), 110-124.
- World Bank. (2019). *GDP (current U.S\$)* | *Data*. GDP (Current U.S\$). https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD
- World Bank. (2019). *GDP (current US\$) Iran, Islamic Rep.* | *Data*. The World Bank. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?locations=IR
- World Bank. (2019). *Population, total Iran, Islamic Rep.* | *Data*. The World Bank. Retrieved March 2021, from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?locations=IR
- World Bank. (2019b). *Population, total United States* | *Data*. Population, Total United States. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?locations=U.S
- Younis, M. (2021, March 23). *Do Americans Want War With Iran?* Gallup.Com. https://news.gallup.com/poll/265640/americans-war-iran.aspx